No. S222314

FEB 1 3 2015

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

SOLUS INDUSTRIAL INNOVATIONS, LLC; EMERSON POWER TRANSMISSION CORPORATION; and EMERSON ELECTRIC CO

Petitioners,

v.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, FOR THE COUNTY OF ORANGE,

Respondent.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA.

Real Parties in Interest.

Petition for Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division 3, No. 0047661

Superior Court, County of Orange Civil Case No. 30-2012-00581868-CU-MC-CXC The Honorable Kim G. Dunning

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Does the federal Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970 (the "Act") preempt a cause of action under California Business and Professions Code Section 17200 when based on worker safety violations under the California Code of Regulations that are part of California's federally approved state plan under the Act?
- 2. Does the Act preempt a cause of action under Business and Professions Code Section 17500 based on false and misleading representations about worker safety?

INTRODUCTION

The United States Department of Labor, Occupational Safety and Health Administration ("FedOSHA") has long recognized that it "has no authority to address ... non-occupational applications" of California state law, including "consumer" protection laws like California's Unfair Competition Law ("UCL") and False Advertising Law ("FAL"). (62 Fed. Reg. 31159, 31159 (June 6, 1997).) With respect to occupational hazards and safety, Congress also expressly granted the State authority to exercise jurisdiction over the enforcement of its own workplace safety laws and regulations — with few narrow expressly defined exceptions that are not applicable here. California thus has broad jurisdiction to regulate and enforce its UCL, FAL and workplace safety laws and regulations without being preempted by federal law.

Nonetheless, the Fourth District held that State prosecutors cannot base a California UCL action on the same un-preempted violations of California law on the grounds that the UCL is separately preempted because it is not a workplace safety law incorporated into California's federally approved State Plan. Without explanation, the Fourth District also concluded that the District Attorney's FAL action is preempted.

The Fourth District's ruling is clearly erroneous. Neither the UCL nor FAL are preempted by the Act. First, because these are laws of general applicability under the historic police powers of the State, there is a "strong presumption against preemption" that protects these laws from preemption. (Farm Raised Salmon Cases (2009) 42 Cal.4th 1077, 1088.) Second, there is no express congressional intent to bar the People's prosecution, as necessary to overcome the applicable presumption, but rather, the expressed Congressional intent is fully in support of any such action. Third, the People's prosecution is not in conflict with federal law, and it does not interfere with or obstruct any retained federal powers with respect to worker safety so as to render these actions preempted under any implied preemption theory.

For each of these reasons, and those discussed in more detail below, the People respectfully submit that the Fourth District's Opinion should be reversed and the matter remanded accordingly.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an egregious case of employer workplace safety violations that resulted in the horrific death of two workers at a commercial plastics manufacturing facility in Rancho Santa Margarita on March 19, 2009. (Compl. ¶¶ 1-51.)¹ Both men died instantly when an improperly installed and maintained residential water heater that was being used to melt plastic exploded. (Compl. ¶¶ 1-39.) The facility was owned, operated and controlled by Petitioners Solus Industrial Innovations, LLC, Emerson Power Technology Corporation and Emerson Electric Co. (collectively referred to herein as "Petitioners," "Defendants," or "Employers") during the relevant time frame from November 2007 when the water heater was installed until its explosion in March 2009.

A. CalOSHA Referred This Case To Prosecutors As Required Under California's Federally Approved Statutory Framework

As required by law, immediately following the tragic deaths of these workers, the California Division of Occupational Safety and Health ("CalOSHA") opened an investigation into the workplace fatalities. (Compl. ¶ 41.) CalOSHA concluded that the deaths were caused by a number of "serious" and "willful" violations of California's safety laws and

The Complaint is attached as Exhibit 1 (bates range 0001-0039) to the Appendix of Exhibits re Petition for Writ of Mandate or Other Appropriate Relief (the "Appendix") filed by Petitioners in Case No. G047661 on or about November 19, 2012 in the Fourth Appellate District, Division Three. Citations to "A" are to the page numbers in the Appendix.

regulations and filed an administrative action against Solus "and its successors" for civil penalties under Title 8 of the California Code of Regulations in the amount of approximately \$98,000. (Compl. ¶¶ 42-43.) The administrative action is currently stayed. (Compl. ¶ 46.)

In addition to initiating an administrative action against Solus, CalOSHA's Bureau of Investigation (the "BOI") conducted a further investigation into the worker deaths, and based thereon, referred the case to the Orange County District Attorney's office for additional "appropriate action" pursuant to Labor Code Section 6315, subdivision (g). (Compl. ¶ 44.) The District Attorney then exercised his charging discretion to file criminal charges against two individuals, including Solus' Plant Manager and its Maintenance Supervisor, who were both responsible for orchestrating the plan to employ the residential water heater (instead of an available and more appropriate commercial boiler, to save costs) and then facilitating the continued unsafe operation of the residential water heater for months on end. (Compl. ¶¶ 1-45.) Both defendants were thereafter indicted on two felony counts of violating Labor Code Section 6425 by the Orange County Grand Jury in the action entitled People v Faulkinbury & Richardson, Orange County Superior Court, Case No. 12ZF0159.

On July 6, 2012, the District Attorney further exercised his prosecutorial discretion to file a Civil Complaint alleging four causes of action against all three corporate Defendants for violations of: (1) Labor

Code Section 6428; (2) Labor Code Section 6429; (3) Business and Professions Code Section 17200; and (4) Business and Professions Code Section 17500. (Compl. ¶¶ 1-75.)

B. Respondent Court's October 3, 2012 Order Sustained In Part And Overruled In Part The Demurrer To The Complaint

On July 23, 2012, Defendants filed a Demurrer to All Causes of Action Set Out in Plaintiff's Complaint and a Motion to Strike Portions of Plaintiff's Complaint. By way of the Demurrer, the Employers argued that:

(1) the District Attorney has no standing to prosecute civil causes of action under Labor Code Sections 6428 and 6429 in the first two causes of action; and (2) that all four causes of action are preempted by federal law.

On October 3, 2012, the trial court entered its order (the "Order") sustaining Defendants' Demurrer to the First and Second Causes of Action, overruling the Demurrer to the Third and Fourth Causes of Action, and denying Defendants' Motion to Strike. In sustaining Defendants' Demurrer to the First and Second Causes of Action, the trial court held that prosecutors lack standing to pursue civil penalties under Labor Code Section 6428 and 6429.² (A0217, A0225-226.) Based on this ruling, the court dismissed the causes of action for civil penalties under

The Fourth District, Division Three, affirmed this ruling on February 24, 2014. The dismissal of the People's causes of action for civil penalties under Labor Code Sections 6428 and 6429 was the subject of a separate petition for review that was denied by this Court on June 18, 2014. (Supreme Court Case No. S217653.)

Labor Code Sections 6428 and 6429 with prejudice. The preemption arguments with respect to the first two causes of action were rendered moot and not ruled upon.

The trial court also overruled Defendants' Demurrer to the Third and Fourth Causes of action, which seek civil penalties for additional wrongs -- separate and apart from the Labor Code violations -- that Petitioners committed in violation of Business and Professions Code Sections 17200 and 17500 (also known as California's Unfair Competition Law, "UCL" and False Advertising Law, "FAL"). Petitioners argued that the causes of action were preempted by the federal occupational safety and health Act. The trial court was "not persuaded that this is a federal preemption issue" and overruled the Demurrer. (A0219.)

C. Fourth District Court Of Appeal Granted Defendants' Writ Of Mandate And Reversed The Trial Court Order

On November 19, 2012, Defendants filed a Petition for Writ of Mandate (Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, Appellate Case No. G047661) seeking to vacate the Order to the extent it overruled their Demurrer to the Third and Fourth Causes of Action on the grounds of preemption. Without hearing or other order, on February 28, 2013, the Fourth District summarily denied the writ petition without decision.

This Court subsequently granted the Defendants' petition for review (Supreme Court Case No. S209199) and transferred the case to the Fourth

District with directions to enter an order to show cause, which was entered on May 10, 2013. After full briefing and hearing, the Fourth District issued its opinion granting the Employers' petition on February 24, 2014, holding the UCL and FAL causes of action are preempted by the Act, and ordering the trial court to vacate its prior Order overruling Defendants' Demurrer to the Third and Fourth Causes of Action.

D. Fourth District Issues Same Ruling After People's Petition For Review Was Granted With Transfer Order By This Court

On April 8, 2014, the People filed a Petition for Review of the February 24, 2014 Opinion in this Court. (Supreme Court Case No. S217651.) The Court granted the Petition for Review on June 18, 2014 and transferred the cause back to the Fourth District "with directions to reconsider the matter in light of Statutes 1972, chapter 1084, pp.2020-2021."

After further briefing, pursuant to the Supreme Court directive, the matter was resubmitted for decision in the Fourth District. On September 22, 2014, the Fourth District issued its Opinion after transfer (the "Opinion"), holding, once again, that California's UCL and FAL are preempted by the Act. The Fourth District's Opinion is legally erroneous and should be reversed and the matter remanded accordingly.

ARGUMENT

The issue of preemption presents a pure question of law subject to a de novo standard of review. (Farm Raised Salmon Cases, supra, 42 Cal.4th at p. 1089 n.10; City of Morgan Hill v. Bay Area Air Quality Management District (2004) 118 Cal.App.4th 861, 869-70 ["On appeal from ... an order sustaining a demurrer," the standard of review is de novo].)

The "principles of preemption" are "not in dispute":

Under the supremacy clause of the United States Constitution (art. VI, cl. 2) Congress has the power to preempt state law concerning matters that lie within the authority of Congress. [Citation.] In determining whether federal law preempts state law, a court's task is to discern congressional intent. [Citation.] Congress's express intent in this regard will be found when Congress explicitly states that it is preempting state authority. [Citation.] Congress's implied intent to preempt is found (i) when it is clear that Congress intended, by comprehensive legislation, to occupy the entire field of regulation, leaving no room for the states to supplement federal law [citation]; (ii) when compliance with both federal and state regulations is an impossibility [citation]; or (iii) when state law 'stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes and objectives of Congress.' [Citations]

(Farm Raised Salmon Cases, supra, 42 Cal.4th at p.1088 [citations omitted].) "It is well established that the party who asserts that a state law is preempted bears the burden of so demonstrating." (Id.) This burden has not, and cannot, be met in this case.

I. BACKGROUND REGARDING CALIFORNIA'S UNFAIR COMPETITION AND FALSE ADVERTISING LAWS

Currently codified in California's Business and Professions Code (§§ 17200 & 17500 et seq.), the UCL and FAL are laws of general applicability with a long history in this State.

A. Business and Professions Code Section 17200 et seq.

The UCL began as a law aimed at curbing trade mark abuse and deceptive, anti-competitive practices in the late 1800's and early 1900's.

(Bus. & Prof. Code, § 17200 et seq. [formerly codified in 1933 at Civil Code, § 3369, subd. (3)].)³ Since then, the definition of what constitutes "unfair competition" has broadened greatly to include any type of unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business practice. (*Int'l Ass'n of Cleaning & Dye House Workers v. Landowitz* (1942) 20 Cal.2d 418, 421-422 ["the common law concept of unfair competition has been broadened"]; Bus. & Prof. Code, § 17200 et seq. [defining "unfair competition" today as any "unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business act or practice"].)

This Court discussed the expanding notion of unfair competition in Barquis v. Merchants Collection Association of Oakland, Inc., explaining:

As originally enacted in 1933, section 3369 defined "unfair competition" only in terms of "unfair or fraudulent business

For additional historical perspective, see generally Gilbert Holland Montague, "Unfair Methods of Competition" (1915) 25 Yale L.J. 20; Zechariah Chafee, Jr., Unfair Competition (1940) 53 Harv. L.R. 1289.

practice[s]"; most of the reported cases, dealing in deceptive conduct, arose under the statute as so worded. In 1963, however, the Legislature amended section 3369 to add the word "unlawful" to the types of wrongful business conduct that could be enjoined. Although the legislative history of this amendment is not particularly instructive, nevertheless, as one commentator has noted "it is difficult to see any other purpose than to extend the meaning of unfair competition to anything that can properly be called a business practice and that at the same time is forbidden by law." (Note, Unlawful Agricultural Working Conditions as Nuisance or Unfair Competition (1968) 19 Hastings L.J. 398, 408-409.)

(Barquis v. Merchants Collection Ass'n of Oakland, Inc. (1972) 7 Cal.3d 94, 112-113.)

Under the "unlawful" business practices prong of the UCL, "section 17200 'borrows' violations of other laws and treats them as unlawful practices independently actionable under Section 17200 *et seq.*" (*Saunders v. Superior Court* (1994) 27 Cal.App.4th 832, 839.) An unlawful business practices action can be based on the violation of "any law, civil or criminal, statutory or judicially made[,] federal, state or local." (*McKell v. Washington Mutual, Inc.* (2006) 142 Cal.App.4th 1457, 1474 [internal citations omitted].)

There is no intent to restrict application of the UCL to any particular subset of laws, but rather, an intent to "permit tribunals to enjoin ongoing wrongful business conduct *in whatever context such activity might occur.*" (Barquis, supra, 7 Cal.3d at p.111 [emphasis added]; Cal-Tech Communications, Inc. v. Los Angeles Cellular Telephone Co. (1999) 20

Cal.4th 163, 180 ["the unfair competition law's scope is broad"; "Its coverage is 'sweeping, embracing *anything* that can properly be called a business practice and that at the same time is forbidden by law." (emphasis added; internal citations omitted)]; *People v. Nat'l Research Co. of Cal.* (1962) 201 Cal.App.2d 765, 770-772 ["The very breadth of the terms used by the Legislature [in defining unfair competition] indicate, in our judgment, an intent to be inclusive rather than restrictive in the practices to be enjoined"]; *Stoiber v. Honeychuck* (1980) 101 Cal.App.3d 903, 927 ["the section 17200 proscription of 'unfair competition' is not restricted to deceptive or fraudulent conduct but extends to any *Unlawful* business practice"].)

Workplace safety violations are no exception. Indeed, as one commentator aptly explained: "[t]he employer who violates the working condition laws competes unfairly with other growers and contractors in the business sense as well. By neglecting to provide the facilities required, the employer ... lowers his cost of production and thereby gains an advantage over his competitor who complies with the law." (Note, *Unlawful Agricultural Working Conditions as Nuisance or Unfair Competition* (1968) 19 Hastings L.J. 368, 411.) "Failing to provide the required facilities" for a safe workplace, therefore, is "clearly an unlawful method of competition" contemplated under California's UCL. (*Id.*) This is precisely the type of unlawful business conduct that is alleged in this case.

Specifically, as alleged in the Third Cause of Action in the Complaint, Defendants attempted to cut corners to save money in violation of the labor laws of this state. In so doing, in addition to violating worker safety laws (and killing two workers), Defendants also engaged in an unlawful business practice that gave them an unfair competitive advantage over other businesses, *e.g.*, those that properly devoted adequate resources to workplace safety as legally required. Under the Business and Professions Code, civil penalties, restitution and injunctive relief are thus appropriately sought to redress the additional harms caused to the competitive business market by Defendants' illegal misconduct. (Bus. & Prof. Code, §§ 17203-17206.)

Under the UCL, the District Attorney has express authority to seek civil penalties in an amount "not to exceed two thousand five hundred dollars (\$2,500) for each violation." (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 17206.) "Unless otherwise expressly provided," civil penalties under Business and Professions Code Sections 17200 are intended to be "cumulative to each other and to the remedies or penalties available under all other laws of this state," including any penalties that may be assessed by CalOSHA or under any other laws with respect to the violations in this case. (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 17205; see also People v. Toomey (1984) 157 Cal.App.3d 1, 22; People v. Dollar Rent-A-Car Sys., Inc. (1989) 211 Cal.App.3d 119, 132.)

B. Business and Professions Code Section 17500 et seq.

The People's Fourth Cause of Action is premised on Business and Professions Code Section 17500, which was enacted in 1941 and makes it unlawful for any person or corporation to use false and misleading statements or advertising to secure competitive advantages by deceiving the public with respect to their goods or services. Specifically, Section 17500 states:

It is unlawful for any person, firm, corporation or association, or any employee thereof with intent directly or indirectly to dispose of real or personal property or to perform services, professional or otherwise, or anything of any nature whatsoever or to induce the public to enter into any obligation relating thereto, to make or disseminate or cause to be made or disseminated before the public in this state, or to make or disseminate or cause to be made or disseminated from this state before the public in any state, in any newspaper or other publication, or any advertising device, or by public outcry or proclamation, or in any other manner or means whatever, including over the Internet, any statement, concerning that real or personal property or those services, professional or otherwise, or concerning any circumstance or matter of fact connected with the proposed performance or disposition thereof, which is untrue or misleading, and which is known, or which by the exercise of reasonable care should be known, to be untrue or misleading,

(Bus. & Prof. Code, § 17500.)

Violations of Section 17500 may be prosecuted by district attorneys either criminally or civilly. (Bus. & Prof. Code, §§ 17500, 17535-17536.) Under Sections 17535 and 17536, entities that violate Section 17500 may be enjoined from using false and misleading advertising and charged with:

a civil penalty not to exceed two thousand five hundred dollars (\$2,500) for each violation, which shall be assessed and recovered in

a civil action brought in the name of the people of the State of California by the Attorney General or by any district attorney, county counsel, or city attorney in any court of competent jurisdiction.

(Bus. & Prof. Code, § 17536.) As above, the penalties under Section 17500 are expressly meant to be cumulative of other penalties assessed under any other law. (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 17534.5 [stating that "[u]nless otherwise expressly provided," civil penalties under Section 17500 are intended to be "cumulative to each other and to the remedies or penalties available under all other laws of this state"].)

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