No. S222314



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SOLUS INDUSTRIAL INNOVATIONS, LLC; EMERSON POWER TRANSMISSION CORPORATION; and EMERSON ELECTRIC CO.,

Petitioners,

v.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, FOR THE COUNTY OF ORANGE,

Respondent.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Real Parties in Interest.

Appeal from a Published Opinion of the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division 3, No. G047661

From the Superior Court, County of Orange Civil Case No. 30-2012-00581868-CU-MC-CXC The Honorable Kim G. Dunning, Department CX104

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Brian A. Sun (SBN 89410) Frederick D. Friedman (SBN 73620) JONES DAY

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. OSHA Preempts State Workplace Safety Regulations Absent Federal Approval of a State Plan.

"Congress has the authority to preempt state law by virtue of the supremacy clause of the United States Constitution, which provides that 'laws of the United States . . . shall be the supreme law of the land; and the judges in every state shall be bound thereby, any thing in the Constitution or laws of any state to the contrary notwithstanding." (Washington Mutual Bank, FA v. Superior Court (2002) 95 Cal.App.4th 606, 612 (Washington Mutual), quoting U.S. Const., art. VI, cl. 2.)

In *Gade*, *supra*, the U.S. Supreme Court determined that Congress enacted OSHA "to promote occupational safety and health while at the same time avoiding duplicative, and possibly counterproductive, regulation." (505 U.S. at p. 102.) To achieve these goals, OSHA "established a system of uniform federal occupational health and safety standards, but gave States the option of pre-empting federal regulations by developing their own occupational safety and health programs." (*Ibid.*)

OSHA, however, provides that any state plan for the development and enforcement of workplace safety standards must be submitted for approval by the U.S. Secretary of Labor:

Any State which, at any time, desires to assume responsibility for development and enforcement therein of occupational safety and health standards relating to any occupational safety or health issue with respect to which a Federal standard has been promulgated under section 655 of this title shall submit a State plan for the development of such standards and their enforcement.

(29 U.S.C. § 667(b), italics added.) Accordingly, the U.S. Supreme Court concluded that "the OSH Act precludes *any* state regulation of an occupational safety or health issue with respect to which a federal standard has been established, unless a state plan has been submitted and approved" by the U.S. Secretary of Labor. (*Gade*, *supra*, 505 U.S. at p. 102, italics added.)

The Supreme Court also noted that the scope of this preemption includes any state law that "interferes with the *methods* by which the

federal statute was designed to reach th[at] goal. . . . '[Citation.]." (*Gade*, supra, 505 U.S. at p. 103, italics added, brackets in original.) In other words, "States are not permitted to assume an enforcement role without the Secretary's approval" (*Id.* at p. 101.) Further, OSHA preemption of state law over issues related to federal workplace safety standards is complete:

The scope of preemption in each area in which a federal standard has been promulgated is complete. All state regulations relating to the "issue" of a federal standard are preempted even if they do not conflict with the federal scheme.

(Industrial Truck Assn., Inc. v. Henry (9th Cir. 1997) 125 F.3d 1305, 1310 (Industrial Truck), citing Gade, supra, 505 U.S. at p. 103.)

California courts have faithfully applied the *Gade* preemption analysis. In an earlier case, the Court of Appeal held that federal OSHA "permits a state to enforce its own OSHA regulations in areas subject to federal standards *only after the state plan has been approved by Fed/OSHA*." (*Loskouski v. State Personnel Bd.* (1992) 4 Cal.App.4th 453, 456, italics added.) In other words, "unless a state occupational safety and health law is incorporated in an approved state plan, it will be preempted *to the extent* it covers subject matter as to which there is a federal standard."

(California Lab. Federation v. Occupational Safety & Health Stds. Bd. (1990) 221 Cal.App.3d 1547, 1552 (Cal. Lab. Fed.), italics added.)²

B. The UCL and FAL Claims Are Preempted Because the U.S. Secretary of Labor Did Not Approve Them.

California submitted its workplace safety plan to the U.S. Secretary of Labor, who approved that plan. (29 C.F.R. § 1952.170 *et seq.* [subpart K].) The approved California plan, however, does *not* provide for enforcement by the district attorneys through original civil actions filed in the superior courts. (See 29 C.F.R. § 1952.170(a); see generally 29 C.F.R. § 1952, subpart K.) Instead, the approved California plan calls for enforcement by Cal/OSHA, with administrative adjudications entrusted to the Occupational Safety and Health Appeals Board:

The State's program will be enforced by the Division of Industrial Safety of the Department of Industrial Relations of the California Agriculture and Services Agency. . . . Administrative adjudications will be the responsibility of the California Occupational Safety and Health Appeals Board.

(29 C.F.R.§ 1952.170(a).) In addition, our Legislature specifically provided that *only* Cal/OSHA may seek civil penalties for violation of the regulations at issue: "The division [Cal/OSHA] may impose a civil penalty

² See also 62 Fed.Reg. 31159, 31160 (June 6, 1997) ("The Occupational Safety and Health Act generally preempts any State occupational safety and health standard that addresses an issue covered by an OSHA standard, unless a State plan has been submitted and approved.").

against an employer as specified in Chapter 4 (commencing with Section 6423) of this part." (Lab. Code, § 6317.)

Indeed, the California workplace safety plan does *not* include the UCL or FAL. (See 29 C.F.R. § 1952, subpart K.) The People admit this factual point in paragraph 11 of their Return to the Petitioner's Petition for Writ of Mandate, filed in the Court of Appeal on June 10, 2013. Moreover, it does not matter when the UCL and FAL were enacted. The relevant point is that neither the UCL nor FAL were part of any California plan approved by the U.S. Secretary of Labor.³

This same preemption issue was addressed by the Ninth Circuit in Kelly v. USS-POSCO Industries (9th Cir. 2003) 101 Fed.Appx. 182 (Kelly). In Kelly, the plaintiff asserted a UCL claim based on her former employer's allegedly inadequate workplace safety training program. (Id. at p. 184.) The Ninth Circuit noted that UCL section "17200 is not part of California's approved occupational health and safety plan." (Ibid.) In an amended complaint, the plaintiff had removed any reference to workplace safety standards, but this did not change the fact that "her unfair business practices

³ Of course, because the UCL and FAL predated California's worker safety plan, yet were not included as part of that plan, then the conclusion must be that the State of California did not consider those statutes to be part of the worker safety plan. To the extent the District Attorney is trying to suggest that the U.S. Secretary of Labor had presumed knowledge of the UCL and FAL when approving the California state plan, the Court of Appeal's opinion thoroughly debunks this suggestion. (*Solus III*, *supra*, 229 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1303–1305.)

claim is intrinsically related to occupational health and safety and is preempted by OSHA." (*Ibid.*) Accordingly, the *Kelly* court applied the *Gade* preemption analysis and affirmed the dismissal of the plaintiff's UCL claim on the pleadings. (*Ibid.*)

Like the plaintiff in *Kelly*, the District Attorney in this case is attempting to enforce workplace safety standards through the Business and Professions Code. But again, neither the UCL nor FAL is part of California's workplace safety plan approved by the U.S. Secretary of Labor. (See 29 C.F.R. § 1952, subpart K; see also *Kelly*, supra, 101 Fed. Appx. at p. 184.) And it makes no difference whether the unapproved "manner of enforcement" is an unapproved civil lawsuit filed by a private plaintiff or an unapproved civil lawsuit filed by a district attorney. Accordingly, federal law preempts the District Attorney's UCL and FAL claims. (See *Gade*, *supra*, 505 U.S. at p. 105; *Kelly*, supra, at p. 184.)

C. The District Attorney's Efforts to Avoid the *Gade* Preemption Analysis Should Be Rejected.

The District Attorney allocates a significant portion of his brief trying to fashion an argument that the *Gade* preemption analysis does not apply to the UCL and FAL, and explaining why he thinks "supplemental actions by prosecutors" to enhance workplace safety standards are good public policy. As further explained below, the *Gade* preemption analysis applies equally to the UCL and FAL as the underlying workplace safety

standards where, as here, the UCL and FAL are being used to enforce those workplace safety standards. Any different conclusion would eviscerate the U.S. Secretary of Labor's authority to determine whether such enforcement mechanisms are consistent with public policy and permissible under OSHA.

1. A "Presumption Against Preemption" Does Not Allow the State to Bypass Federal Approval.

The District Attorney argues that the UCL and FAL "are laws of general applicability" and "there is a strong 'presumption against preemption' that protects these laws from preemption." (Op. Br. at p. 2, citing Farm Raised Salmon Cases (2008) 42 Cal.4th 1077, 1088.) The District Attorney's argument, however, ignores OSHA's express requirement that state plans for development and enforcement of workplace safety laws must be approved by the U.S. Secretary of Labor. As the Court of Appeal reasoned, the District Attorney cannot use a "presumption against preclusion" to avoid obtaining the U.S. Secretary of Labor's approval:

Because the OSH Act allows a state to avoid federal preemption only if it obtains federal approval of its own plan, it necessarily follows that a state has no authority to enact and enforce laws governing workplace safety which fall outside of that approved plan. The OSH Act expressly requires a state to comply with its approved plan, and allows the Secretary to rescind approval of the plan if the state fails to do so. (29 U.S.C., § 667(f).) Under this statutory scheme, we conclude the approved state plan operates, in effect, as a "safe harbor" within which the state may exercise its jurisdiction.

It is only when the state stays within the terms of its approved plan, that its actions will not be preempted by federal law.

(Solus III, 229 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1306–1307, italics added [distinguishing Farm Raised Salmon Cases (2009) 42 Cal.4th 1077].) In other words, the District Attorney is attempting to use the UCL and FAL not under any historic police powers, but as a device to seek civil penalties not authorized by California's workplace safety plan and without U.S. Secretary of Labor's approval. The District Attorney's attempt to make an end run around the legislative and federal administrative processes is exactly what Gade preemption is meant to prevent.⁴

The Court of Appeal's conclusion that the state must follow its workplace safety plan approved by the U.S. Secretary of Labor only makes sense. As the Ninth Circuit has explained, allowing a state to change its plan after approval would render the Secretary of Labor's review of the plan meaningless:

[A] state may not submit some regulations on a worker safety issue to OSHA as part of its state plan and omit other regulations relating to the same issue from the plan. The omitted regulations, even if complementary to the [OSH] Act's scheme, are subject to the "background pre-emption" of the federal standard. . . . It would make the state plan

⁴ For the same reasons, other cases that analyze whether state laws improperly regulate areas of federal regulation based on a "presumption against preemption" are also easily distinguishable. (See, e.g., *People ex rel. Harris v. Pac Anchor Transportation, Inc.* (2014) 59 Cal.4th 772, 782–787 [analyzing whether the Federal Aviation Administration Authorization Act preempts the UCL].)

approval requirement superfluous if a state could pick and choose which occupational health and safety regulations to submit to OSHA.

(*Industrial Truck*, *supra*, 125 F.3d at p. 1311, italics added; see also *Cal. Lab. Fed.*, *supra*, 221 Cal.App.3d at pp. 1558–1559 [directing Cal/OSHA to add toxic chemical regulations to state plan and submit to U.S. Secretary of Labor for approval].)

The District Attorney also cannot avoid the *Gade* preemption analysis by arguing that the UCL and FAL are "consumer protection laws" that apply outside the context of workplace safety. As the U.S. Supreme Court has explained, state laws are preempted if they are being used to regulate workplace safety without the U.S. Secretary of Labor's approval:

A state law also is pre-empted if it interferes with the methods by which the federal statute was designed to reach th[at] goal.

... The OSH Act does not foreclose a State from enacting its own laws to advance the goal of worker safety, but it does restrict the ways in which it can do so. If a State wishes to regulate an issue of worker safety for which a federal standard is in effect, its only option is to obtain the prior approval of the Secretary of Labor...

(*Gade*, *supra*, 505 U.S. at pp. 103–104, internal quotation marks and citations omitted, bracketing in original.)

A prime example is Proposition 65 (the Safe Drinking Water and Toxic Enforcement Act of 1986), which requires health warnings for carcinogen exposure. In *California Labor Federation*, *supra*, the Court of Appeal rejected an argument that Proposition 65 was not a workplace

safety law "simply because it also applies outside the workplace and exempts certain employers [with 10 or fewer employees] from its requirements." (221 Cal.App.3d at p. 1557.)

Here, the District Attorney is admittedly attempting to "enhance" workplace safety by assessing penalties under the UCL and FAL for alleged workplace safety violations. (Op. Br. at p. 41.) But just as Proposition 65 could not be used to enforce workplace safety standards without the U.S. Secretary of Labor's approval, the UCL and FAL cannot be used to enforce workplace safety standards without the U.S. Secretary of Labor's approval.

Indeed, courts routinely hold that other federal laws completely preempt the UCL and/or FAL on specific areas of regulation. This Court held that the federal Highway Beautification Act preempts the UCL. (People ex rel. Dept. of Transportation v. Naegele Outdoor Advertising Co. (1985) 38 Cal.3d 509, 523.) The Court of Appeal held that a federal regulation adopted under the Home Owners' Loan Act preempted a state law claim under the UCL. (Washington Mutual, supra, 95 Cal.App.4th at pp. 612, 621.) The Ninth Circuit held that the Copyright Act completely preempts any attempt to use the UCL as a surrogate for a copyright claim. (Kodadek v. MTV Networks, Inc. (9th Cir. 1998) 152 F.3d 1209, 1213.) The Ninth Circuit also held that both the UCL and FAL were preempted by

the Home Owners' Loan Act. (Silvas v. E*Trade Mortgage Corp. (9th Cir. 2008) 514 F.3d 1001, 1008.)

Finally, the District Attorney attempts to distinguish its UCL claims from its FAL claims by arguing that its FAL claims do not rely upon any specific workplace safety standard. The District Attorney's FAL claims, however, are based upon allegations that Solus falsely advertised its compliance with the same workplace safety standards upon which the District Attorney's UCL claims are based. Indeed, the District Attorney could not prove that Solus falsely advertised its compliance with workplace safety standards without proving that Solus violated some workplace safety standards. As result, the same preemption analysis applies to the District Attorney's claims under both the UCL and FAL.

2. Stricter State Enforcement of Workplace Safety is Permissible But Still Requires Federal Approval.

The District Attorney also argues that nothing in OSHA precludes a state "from adopting more stringent enforcement regulations than the federal government at any time." (Op. Br. at p. 24.) There is no dispute about this, except that the U.S. Secretary of Labor still must approve the more stringent state enforcement regulations included within the state's workplace safety plan. Proposition 65 again provides a prime example.

As discussed above, the *California Labor Federation* court issued a writ compelling the Cal/OSHA Board to submit Proposition 65 to the U.S.

Secretary of Labor for possible approval that would avoid federal preemption of workplace violations. (*Cal. Lab. Fed., supra*, 221 Cal.App.3d at p. 1559.) The U.S. Secretary of Labor preliminarily determined that the private right of action under Proposition 65 met the criteria for approval. (62 Fed.Reg. 31159, 31162 [June 6, 1997].) The U.S. Secretary of Labor then received statements from 207 commentators, many of whom opposed approval. (*Id.*) Upon considering the public comments, the U.S. Secretary of Labor approved the private right of action under Proposition 65 but with restrictions on claims against out-of-state manufacturers. (*Id.* at pp. 31166–31167, 31180.) In doing so, the U.S. Secretary of Labor specifically discussed the *Gade* preemption analysis. (*Id.* at pp. 31160, 31163, 31166.)

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